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Editorial

THE DAWNING AWARENESS

N the first Sunday in Fehruary.

1788, the Reverend Richard
Johnson, Chaplain to the Fleet, and
First Chaplain to the Colony of New
South  Wales, conducted Divine
Service under a great tree in the
presence of troops and convicts. The
shade of this tree was to he the
permanent place of worship for somic
time to come,

“What shall 1 render unto the Lord
for all His benefits toward me? 1 will
take the Cup of Salvation and call
upon the name of the Lord.™ (Psalm
116 verses 12 and 13—the Rev.
Richard Johnson’s Text at the first
Service. )

This “great tree” as near as can
be determined stood where Hunter
and Castlereagh Streets intersect, It
is  now called Richard Johnson
Square, Those present would have
seen as they walked up from the
shores of Sydney Cove the ships of
the First Fleet at anchor in the Bay.
At this great tree behind them and
to their left they may have secn
small boats where Muartin Place now
stands. This stream of fresh water
they soon ealled the Tank Stream.

The subsequent history of many
who heard Richard Johnson on that
first Sunday in  February, 1788,
estahlishes heyond douht that they
did indeed give thanks, His text. us
we look back, seems to contain both
a prophecy and a vision, In retrospect
it seems also to contain a warning
to those of us, and it well may be all
of us, who accept without thought or

thanks the benefits we

enjoy.,

muny now

The long hard vovage wus hehind
them. they must have looked with
longing through the trees at the ships
that had brought them here so far
from loved ones and familiar sur-
roundings, With anguish they Kknew
that the ships would return without
them,

“Their first dwellings were con-
structed  of posts  driven into the
ground, and poles Tastened to these
hy ropes made of twisted withes,
thus making the framework, Into this
were woven twigs and bark, and
small braunches, and then plastered up
with mud. Fancy a little town of a
thousand inhabitants thus situated,
and you can have the only irue
picture of our great city in embryo.
What 4 jolly time our ancestors had
of it 100 years ago all through the
months of autumn and winter. They
were all lords and ladies. Rulers and
ruled lived pretty much ufter the
same fashion. The same style of
architecture prevailed. They walked
on the same pavement of sandstone.
and drank from the same clittle tank’
stream. They looked out on the same
lovely harbour and sky. They listened
to the same notes of music from the
feuthered tribes, whose gorgeous
plumage ix a reflection of the universal
loveliness that reigns, They went 1o
the sume church, which consisted of
a clump of fig-trees, and worshipped
the same God without a thought or
dread of collection hoxes or pew rent






THE AUSTRALIAN

CONSERVATION FOUNDATION —
PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE

By Sir GARFIELD BARWICK

{Vice-President, The Australian Conservation Foundation}

scems almost incredihle

“IT that Australia
problems of settling a wilderness to the prohlems of conservation of

should have gone (rom the

nature in little over {00 years, Fven today there are many Australians who
find it hard to believe that the problems of conservation exist at all
It's never too early to care about the conservation of our natural inheritance,

but the 1ime may come when it is too late . . .

Now that H.R.H. Prince Philip is
the President of the Australian Con-
servation Foundation, having assumed
the position last October., it s
interesting to recall that the Foun-
dation had its genesis during the visit
made by the Duke of Edinburgh to
Australia in t963. The Duke had
intimated  that  Australia  might
support the World Wildlife Fund and

that perhaps a branch might be
established here. The WW.F. in
which the Duke was an office-

hearer at the time, had been created
to foster the conservation of wildlife
in those parts of the world such as
Asia, Africa and South America
where the problems are greater than
the resources available for tackling
them. A meeting of biologists and
others interested in conservation was
hastily convened in Canberra to
consider the Duke’s suggestion. This
meeting revealed that not only was
there no Australia-wide body con-
cerned with conservation, but also
that the tbreats to Australia’s own
wildlife were so great that & major
conservation effort was nceded. In

51

—H.R.H. Prince Philip.
Canberra. Feb.., 1963,

short, the meeting decided that
Australia was in no position to help
others, hut must start putting her
own house in order right away. In
fact, Australia still is not a con-
tributing memher of the W.W.F., but
consideration is now heing given fto
helping this very worthy and efiective
international organisation.

Ancther meeting with a nation-
wide rcpresentation of  scientists.
businessmen and others was held in
August 1964 after much behind-the-
scenes activities, especially by the late
Francis Ratcliffe, whose name will
always he associated with conserva-
tion in Australia, At this meeting an
Interim Council was formed. Action
Aowed fairly rapidly {from tbis point
on. A draft constitution was approved
in 1965 and the first meeting of the
Council was held on 18-19 September
1966. 1n the foilowing vear the
Australian  Conservation Foundation
was incorporated (12 August) as a
non-profitmaking association under
the appropriate ordinance of the
Australian  Capital  Territory.  Dr.
Ratcliffe  was its  first Honorary



Sccretary, but by mid-1966 the work
had inereased to the point where a

part-time Executive Secrctary was
appointed. During 1967 the first
election of Councillors took place

and the frst full-time Director. Dr.
Don McMichael. now the Director
of the N.SW. National Parks and
Wildlife Service, wus installed.

This first spurt of growth was
greatly assisted by the ready support
of the Commonwealth Government
which allocated the fledgling Foun-
dation a grant of $20.000 a year for
the first three years. later extended
ta $50,000 for five years. principally
for the purpose of maintaining a
secretariat. It also made provision for
donations of $2.00 or more to the
Foundation to be eligible as income
tax deductions.

Gf course, the A.C.F. was by no
means the first society in Australia
to he concerned with conservation.
The Linnean Society, for example,
was established nearly a century ago
in 1874 and there are quite a number
of other bodies such as The Royal
Zoologicai Society of N.S.W. which
can proudly point to many decades
of work on behalf of conservation.
Many Stute Departments since their
earlicst days bhave also taken a lively
interest in certain uspects of con-
servation, However, the greatest
increase in both the number of new
conservation societies formed and in
their membership has come only
within the last six or seven years. Our
Conservation Directery published in
1970 lists over 350  scattered
throughout Australia, Some of these
groups have very specific intcrests,
being concerned only with, say, clean
air, fire-contro] or the preservation of
our fast-disappcaring tropical rain
forests., But the majority are more
hroadly concerned with this country’s
unique flora and fauna—its study.
enjoyment and preservation.

Besides these permaneni socicties,

ad hoc, action-oriented conservation
groups spring up as urgent need
arises to save some treasured local

feature or forestall development until
a4 proper assessment of the issues
involved can be conducted. To the
man-in-the-street, indeed, it may scem
that ft i these local and wvocal
pressure groups who are reully carry-
ing on the conservation battle. Such
names as Colong, Myall Lakes,
Cooloola, Lake Pedder, etc.. have
now hecome household words i
Australia as a result of the intense
publicity they have received arising
out of the initiative and doggedness
exhibited by a small local group.
Often these tiny conservation com-
mittees may have only a dozen or so
members, but in conservation size
is not always a criterion of either
activity or effectiveness. But actions
of this type are designed to meet an
emergency—to save something before
it is lost forever. Unfortunately, the
wide publicity resulting from the
sunguine activities or expressions of
such groups tends to cloud two hasic
characteristics of conservation in the
public mind; first, that extremism is
not a feature of the real and
continuing work of the conservation
movement; and, second, that
conservation demands an intellectual
approach, That depends upon calm.
unemotional examination of the facts
followed by careful appraisal of what
ought to he done in the course of
necessary change designed to bring
about real as distinct from merely
financial progress. Or, as it has heen
aptly explained by another, conser-
vation does not comprise of blind
opposition to progress, but rather
opposition to blind progress. As a
nation, we will never solve our
environmental problems merely by
dealing with or even by staying one
jump ahead of the emergencies.
Certainly, at this point in the bistory
of conservation we need the
advantage of that one jump: but that
is not enough.

The “founding fathers” of the
A.C.F. recognised this and saw that

Australia  must have a national
organisation which is capable of
taking the long-range view and



working towards the establishment of
basic principles affecting the usz of
natural resources and the issuecs
underlying typical conservation con-
flicts, Thus, while the A.C.F. will and
does provide tangible support for
worthy local causes, with its srill
slender resources hoth of cash and
staff, it cannot afford to hecome
deeply enmeshed in “brush fires™ und,
if 1 may extend the analogy. fail to
notice that a whole forest is hicom-
ing ready for burning up somewherc
else.

Inirially, it 1s true that the A.C.F.
concerned itself with the conservation
of certain individual species of
animals such as the Cape Barren
Goose, various membhers of our hard-
pressed waterfow] and, of course.
our national emblem, the red kan-
garoo. Vital though the conservation
of these creatures is from the
national point of wview, the Foun-
dation was soon getting its teeth into
even more fundamental matters.
Thus, realising that in the end con-
servation rests mainly in the heurts
and minds of ordinary people the
Foundation at a very early stage
appointed a conservation education
officer. His main goal is to see that
the curricula presented to our school-
children includes at least some
material  introducing  conservation
values so that the next generation will
have a more perceptive view of their
environment than did their parents
who, 1 am afraid, generaliy grew up
with the archaie, narrow idea that
nature existed to he conquered and
exploited. Eventually it is our hope
that natural resource education will
receive as much attention in schools
as do  reading, writing  and
arithmetic. Meanwhile, the Foun-
dation is doing its hest in the field of
adult education through bhoth formal
and informal channels. In this the
daily press has afforded the conser-
vation movement inestimable help.

Other major preoccupations of the
Foundation which  will only be
mentioned en passunt pertain to the
cxtension (and defence} of the

system of National Purks, the vastly
complicuted question of the allocation
of land for different uses, resource
utifisation planning, the inadequacy
of existing legislation. particularly us
it relates to mining and generalised
physical conservation prohlems such
as preservation of the coast. the arid
zone which amounts to two-thirds of
the surface area of the continent, the
high country of which there is propor-
tionally far less on this continent
than on any other. and the Murray
Valley among others.

None of these matters will be
quickly settled and are sure to com-
mand the greater part of the
Foundation’s resources for many
years to come. Considerable progress
has alreudy been made nevertheless.
For instance, the National Parks,
although still not absolutely secure.
are more strongly safeguarded both
by law and public opinion. Mining
legislation is  heing overhauled in
several States. Objective bodies to
study and plan land utilisation are or
have been estahlished in most States
and the Commonwealth, and offices
for the protection of the environment
have ulso been created. At Jeust one
of these has already demonstrated
that it has some tecth. Further. under
the stimulus of the Foundation field
study centres are being set up where
teachers und  children may be
instructed in ecological matters and
considerations.

Looking to the more distant future
we can expect the Foundation to take
an active role in thrashing out
national policies concerning the use
and disposal of non-renewahle natural
resources such as land, fuel and
minerals. It is likely also to take a
keener interest in the urban sprawl.
town and country planning, especially
the location of new cities and the
problems of excessive use of recrea-
tional resources which will flow from

increased  tourism.  greater  leisure
time and ua considerably larger
population.

Conservationists, of course, have

absolutely no intention of trying to









AUSTRALIA HERITAGE

By Mi. A. J. GRASSBY, M.H.R.

HE anneouncement from North
Queensland that three leases in
the Simpson Desert area had been put
on the market in the United States
at 25c per acre was the bezginning

of the extraordinary project now
known as Australin Heritage.

It had been indicated in the
National Parliament by the Prime
Minister, Mr. McMahon, that it s

possible to go through three-quarters

of the top end of the Northern
Territory and  find  ourselves  tres-
passing in our own country as we
find land held by a growing
proliferation of overseas inlerests™.
The Minister for National
Development had stated that 71%
of all Australia’s mineral exports are
now overseas controlled und the
estimate  of  Australian  lund  now

owned outside the country exceeds
250 million acres.

In the industrial sector. of 299
large companies 36% of total share-
holders® funds are foreign owned and
141 are clussified as foreign controlled.
Forty-six giant companies, those who
have assets of $20 million or over,
have three-quarters of their assets con-
trolled from five outside countries.

Of the construction and assembly
of moter vehicles in Australia 87.8%

is controlled oulside the country.
76.3% of all pharmaceutical and
toilet preparations  originute  with

foreign-controlled corporations. White
lcad paints and varnishes are 70%
controlled outside  Australia. 63%
of all  musical instruments are
produced by foreign-owned firms, and
nearly half of our radio sets originate
from overseus interests.

Thirty per cent of meat and fish
preserving companies are controlled
overseas and nearly the sume percen-
tage applies to  jam. fruit and
vegetable canning. Half of the top 40
selling items in the supermarkets arc
controlled overseas.

It s certain that this trend s
increasing.
Dr. Douglas Everingham, M.P.,

Member for Cuapricornia. offered in
the House of Parliament 30¢ for the
purchase of two acres of land. This
was the beginning of  Australia
Heritage.

The next morning. Dr. Everingham
spoke on national radie and urged
Australians to make bids for this land
at 25¢ an acre. That night on
National television. 1 supported the
move to prevent alienation of further
areas of Australia to outside interests
and | followed this up with a further
broadcast next morning. From a total
of seven minutes of radio and tele-
vision, a weritable “bushfire of
nationalism™ began.

Ten thousand Australians have sent
pledges and money to support
Australia Heritage. The Minister for
the Interior has received 600 letters
with cash to help suve Australian jund
from being sold. Dr, Everingham and
myself  received in ome day one
thousand letters. Mr. Barry Cohen,
M.P.. Member for Robertson, was
the first to volunteer to Australia
Heritage with an offer to assist in
sorting this mail.

I drew the attention of the Attorney-
General to advertisements in Asian
and American newspapars urging
people to huy a bit of Australia and
offering areas of land here at discount
prices. The headings urged "Buy a
Bit of Australia Now™.

The Attorney-General stated the
situation that such promotions are
“completely in accord with the law™.

The particular area of land has been
clearly pinpointed in the House of
Representatives, It is in the vicinity
of the Simpson Desert and comprises
.60} square miles made up of three
pastoral leases. known as Yuluma,
Gungui  and  Buruli, Part of the



Simpson Desert is in the Northern
Territory and under the control of the
Minister for the Interior. The Queens-
land Government has declared a large
area of the Simpson Desert as a
national park.

The leases referred to were allotted
to an Australian in the Boulia Land
Court in 1964 and for personal and
private reasons the lessee has e¢lected
{o sell and discussions are now taking
place hetween a prospective American
purchaser and ua Queensland estate
agent.

The response hy Australians has
come from the most diverse areas of
the Australian nation. Members of
the Parliamentary Press Gallery have
pledged their support. Members of
Parliament on both sides of the house
have indicated they would contribute
to the cost of company registration.
A group of employees of an overseus
company have pledged $4,060. An
Anglican clergyman contributed what
he described as a  mite”. Two
brothers, aged 10 and 12, sent the
contents of their money-hoxes, being
$2.48, and stated that “we will talk
to our parents. we feel sure they will
be interested in saving Australia too™.
A young couple saving to marry and
buy a house sent $10, adding “we
feel we could at least afford this for
our country and its future”. Migrants
from the U.S., Great Britain. ltaly,
Germany, Greece, all write and state
that they have settled here and do
not wish to sce the country of their
adoption sold and lost to their
children,

The response to Austrafia Herirage
is a national rtesponsc and a clear
demonstration that Australians wish
to preserve their country for their
posterity.

It was considered clearly desirabie
to seek further skill and talent to
guide Australia Heritage. Invitations
were extended and accepted by the
following distinguished Australians:

The Rt. Hon. I. G. Gorton.
M.H.R.. former Prime Minister.

The R:, Rev, Howell Witt, Anglican
Bishop of North West Australia,

Mrs. Kath  Walker. M.B.E..
Aboriginal Poetess,

Judith Wright McKinney., Quecns-
land Conservationist,

Professor A. R, Muain. Professor of
Zoology. University  of  Woest
Australia.

Mr. Gordon Barton., Svdneyv, New
South Wales.

Professor K. L.
Associate Professor
University of Sydney.

Mr. Alan Strong. Former Chict
Guardian of Flora and Fauna.
New South Wales.

At the present moment ua solicitor
15 handling formation of the company,
without fec or charges. that will
control  Australin  Heritage. The
hasis for future contributions will he
25¢, which will represent one acre.
Contrihutions are not limited to 25c
and there buve heen some oflers of
$1.000. Irrespective of the size of the
contribution, it will represent  one
acre and any profits will be reinvested
in acquisition of further lands. It is
possible that one million Australians
may contribute to the purchase of
one miliion acres with a cash con-
trihution of $250,000. The Compuny
Articles provide that <ach shareholder
will have one vote only. This wili
guard the company from takc-over by
business or sectional interests. Tax
deductibility is heing sought for gifts
and requests. For those who wish to
support  Australia Heritage. pledges
of support are all that is required.

Wheelwright.
Econamics,

All  centributions  of  cheques and
money orders. bunk notes. stamips,
etc.. are being held pending the

finalisation of the objectives and the
bid to be made for the land,

The major objective will be to
sccure  natural  scenic  areas  as
Australian parks and to prevent un-
wise exploitation. The three convenors
are Dr. Douglas Everingbam, M.P..
Mr. A, ). Grassby, M.P.. and Mr.
Milo  Dunphy, distinguished and
nationally known conservationist. of
Sydney. N.S.W.




EARLY COUNCILS OF THE
CITY OF SYDNEY

By Mr. J. H. LUSCOMBE

{¥ice-Patron, Fellowship of First Fleeters)

Town Clerk, Sydney

NTIL 1323 the Government of
the whole of the Colony was
vested solely in the Governor but in
that year a Legislative Council was
appointed to assist him, The Council,
however. was appointed, not elected,
and the ordinary citizen had no say
in the government of his country.
| believe that between 1823 and
1842 there were some persony elected
to u Legislative Council hut T am not
sure what the franchise was, so there-
fore it cannot be claimed that the
Municipal Council of Sydncy was the
first clected hody in the Colony,
[t was not until 10 years later that

Sydney itself achieved a separate
identity from that of the Colony. In
[833 u Proclamation was issued

passing the Government of Sydney to
three Police Magistrates under an
“Act for regulating the police in the
town and Port of Sydney and for
removing and preventing nuisances
and  obstructions  therein”.  The
magisterial system was not particularly
successful as police duties frequently
took precedence over civic affairs.
Nor were all the early Police
Mugistrates noted for their prohity.
Moreover. there were sometimes only
one or two Magistrates, instead of the
stipulated three, to supervise the
affairs of the town,

As u result in July. 1835, o petition
was presented to Governor Bourke
requesting some more organised form
of  Municipal Government. The
petitioners also asked for additional
revenue to he set aside for civic
management and improvement.

The Governor laid the petition
before the Legislative Council which,
after due consideration. resolved that
Commissioners should be elected by
the land and househeolders of the
town. The Cemmissioners would be

in control of streets, lighting, sewer-
age. water supply. etc., and would
have the power to assess and levy
rates for these purposes. Also, certain
revenues collected in the town would
be available for five years for civic
purposes. The revenues to go to the
lown were—
{#) The amount received for licences
to retail spirits within the town

of Sydney.

(b} The Sydney Murket dues,

{c) The income from conducting
water to private houses {in these
days there was not a water
supply in the City and at some
time later Busby's Bore was
completed).

However, in order to introduce

such a form of Municipal Government
the Legislative Council further stated
that a private hill would have to be
prepared, presented to the Governor,
and then placed before the Council.
Nothing appeared to have heen done
about presenting this bill and the
matter fel! into aheyance until 1839,

in 1840 Governor Gipps brought
forward a bill in the Legislative
Council providing for the introduction
of Municipal Government in New
South Wales. Unfortunately, the hill
included a clause which prohibited
all persons who had been transported
to the Colony from voting or being
elected to the proposed municipal
hodies. This clause ignited a powder
keg of controversy and in the
resulting explosion the bill itself was
lost.

Governor  Gipps  reported  the
fuilure of his hill and the con-
troversy to England. Lord John

Russell. then Secretary of State for
the Colonies, replied in a despatch
dated 21 July 1841, In this despatch
lord Russell assured Gipps that the






Any person who assumed oflice
but later wished to resign had to pay
an equivalent fine, depending on his
position. As the consent of 2 nomince
for office did not have to be obtained
it was on the cards that a person
could bhe elected without either his
consent or knowledge. This unlikely
situation did occur in 1843, when &
certnin  Hustings Elwin was elected
Auditor against his will. Fortunately
Mr, Elwin was over the age of 63
yvears and thus exempt under the Act.
He therefore was able to resign for
free.

The date of the first election was
I November 1842, a day as the
“Sydney Morning Herald” described
it whose “genial weather and cool
breeze added much

to the generul

enjoyment™.
The polling places were opened
from 9 a.m. to 4 p.m.. and the day

was remarkably free from incident,
although Brishane Ward saw a violent
quarre]l berween husband and wite
over which candidate the husband
should support.

[t might be noted that the voters
had “to  deliver to the Presiding
Cfficer a hallot paper contuining the
names, addresses and descriptions of
the candidates they wish to vote for.”
The paper was signed by the voter
and the candidates hud the option of
exumining the pupers after the
clection. Such a system would give
considerable opportunity for intimi-

dation and  bribery. one would
imagine.

The day after the clection the
“Sydney  Morning  Herald™  com-
mented  on  the clection. Tt stated
bluntly that “the evil consequences
of the low franchise is apparent in

the great number of uneducated men
who have been elected”. Some days
later  the “Herald™ offered some
advice to the embryo Council. After
empbasising  that the Councillors,
buving taken public office, could no
shelter

longer “behind the snug
fences of domestic privacy”, it con-
tinucd. “They stand on clevated
ground, cxposed to  the rough

elements of popular observation and

criticism. They must be content to
abide the peltings of many a storm.

They are public property. Their
office has been created for public
henefit. These persons have been

elected by the public voice and for
the puhiic use and in accepiing the
suffrages of their fellow citizens they
have enlisted themselves as public
servants. It is important that this new
rclation should never be forgotten by
them.”

After this excellent and timeless
advice, the paper explained even
more  explicitly  the  Councillory’

positions and duties. “Their peculiar
position is that they are the first body
of Sydney representatives, If by their
prudence, zeal and honest
devotedness to the public interests
they should do credit to the new
fledged corporztion great will be the
honours shed upon their names and
lasting their fame in cur Municipal
annals.”

As a final warning the “Herald”
offered these remarks—

“If, on the contrary, by their
remissness,  their  ignorance, their
folly, their blundering measures,

their violent tempers and angry con-
tentions. they shall cause Sydney to
blush for her maiden Council, they
will draw down upon their heads the
scorn and indignation of the whole
colony and consign their names to an
infamous immortality.”

On 9 November 1842 the newly
elected Councillors assembled for the

first time in a room in the north-
eastern corner of the old Market
Building in George Street for the

purpose of electing a Mayor.

Alderman John Hosking achieved
the distinction of being the first
elected Mayvor of Sydney. After this
arduous first meeting the Councillors
adjourned until the following week.

At the second meeting the prin-
cipal business was the appointment of
a Town Clerk at a salary of £400
per annum, There  were five
nominces for the position and the
successful  applicant  was  Charles
Henry Chambers.



A duty imposed on the Mayor by
the 1842 Act of Incorporation was
to have boundary stones set up to
mark the limits of the City and the
Wards. The markers were fo be
erected within six months of his
election, and  conseguently  Mr.
Hosking placed un order for the
requisite number of houndary stones
with the firm of P. N. Russell.

As well as baving houndary posts
erected, the Mayor and Town Clork

were to make “a circuit  of
perambulation™ every three years,
During this  “p:rambulation™  the

Town Clerk was to “enquire whether
the name or names wherehy the said
metes and bounds. or any part there-
of, are or is described have or has
been changed.” All such changes were
to be entered in a special book
known as the Boundary Book.

This in fact was merely a local
version of the old English custom of
“beating the bounds”. In the days
when literacy was rare, and street
maps even rarcr, this  custom
helped te impress the boundaries of
parish or town upon the residents by
dint of repctition. It also helped to
preserve the local records of such

boundaries with accuracy. and so
prevent  disputes  with  adjoining
parishes.

The first Balance Sheet of the

Council was prepared for the period
Novemher 1842 to August 1843 und
showed that £4.462.0.10 had heen
received and that £4.587.9.6 hud been
expended. It is interesting to note
that at a meeting of the Council to
he held in a few weeks time the
£972 budget will he discussed and 1t
will  show the expenditure of
approximately $20 million.

It is not generally known that for
a brief period the City Council had
control of the Police Force in Sydney.
“Had control™ is perhaps not the best
term, for the Council appzared to do
little except foot the bill.

In his instructions to the Com-
missioner of Police of 6 March 1843,
the Colonial Secretary wrote, “In the
execution of your duties you will take

orders only from the Government.
The distribution of the police force
will rest with you, under such orders

as  you may receive from the
Government, although the numerical
strength  of the Police and the

amount of their pay and allowances,
are matters which. under the Cor-
poration Act, are ta be reguluted by
the Mavor and Council of the City.”
A position which could he compared
with the policing of parking meters
today. Council pays the salary and/or
wages of the Parking Police but the

State Government receives all
penalties.
As a resuit of Council's dissatis-

faction and complaints, an Act was
passed in November 1845 suspending
for onc year the operation of the
Corporation Act which related to the
Police and vesting management of the
Force in the Executive Council. The
suspension was continued only until
1850 when the first Corporation Act
was repealed. In the new Corporation
Act the police clauses were not re-
enacted and thus ended the Council’s
connection with the Force.

Three times during the Council’s
history it was suspended from office
and  Commissioners  appoinied  to
administer the city. The first time
was between the vear 1854 and {857.
The second time from 1928 to 1930
and the third time from !967 until
1969, It is not proposced to go into
the pros and cons of the reasons for
the dissolution of the Council as
there are many and varied arguments
both for and against. It is merely
mentioned here to indicate thuat the
elected body had not huad continuity
of office.

CONCLUSION
I have cndeavourad 1o outline
some of the difficulties and the

atmesphere in which the young City
of Sydney was born, It has continued
to  thrive and will thrive and
although not the seat of the Federal
Government for the Commonwealth
of Austruiia it undoubtedly is the
principal city and 1 feel surc that it
will remain so.















afterwiards he married Mary Hipwell,
transported for stealing a  pair of
gloves. valued at one shilling. the
properly of her mistress.

Green Hills was o spuall,  self-
contained world in those days and it
seemed higbly likely that the paths of
William  Singleton  and  Thomuas
Gosper would have crossed. But it
was surprising to  find that their
original land grants were side by side.
One can imagine them yarning about
those acres of wheat. barley. the pigs
and cows und, maybe, even the one
wife which the musters showed cach
to possess. Nor were floods far from
thetr minds—floods which sometimes
brought prosperity to the Hawkes-
hury valley by gifts of rich new soil,
and sometimes ruin.

The name of Robert Campbell—
Campbel] of the Whart and Duntroon
—is one well known in Canberra. In
1811 and 1812 Robert Campbell wus
in financial difficulties and sct out to
collect the many debts owing to him.

Summonses  were  issued  against
several hundred persons including

William  Singleton. who wus alleged
to owe £496.18.7 which by a court
judgment dated 13 January 1812 was
increased to £508.10.5, It 1s of interest
tbat Singleton. who had been ad-
vanced the moncy in 1804 to enable
him to clear and cultivate his farm.
was one of Campbell’s lurgest debtors
and shared that honour with such
prominent citizens as J. Bowman,
William  Collins, John Palmer and
William Gore." On a later occasion.
William  stated that his debts had
been incurred as a result of three
disastrous floods and in order to meet
his liabilities he had been forced to
sell his original grant.” One might
well imagine that it was for the sume
reason that in October 1809, the
Provost  Marshall  announced  his
intentton to sell by public auction
“the  valuable  Thirty-acre  Furm.
sundry pigs. and other Effects of the
said - Willlam  Singleton  (unfess  the
Excecution thereupon  be  previously
superseded) ™

William  Singleton wuas  among
those who during the carly years had
signed a number of petitions and
memoriuls presented 1o the governors.
But one in particular was significant
in the light of subsequent events. In
1806 Governor Bligh was welcomed
in a memorial which, ufter con-
gratulating the King on his wise
choice of governor. expressed the
willingness at all times of residents
of the Hawkesbury to lay down their
lives and fortunes for the protection
of his Excellency: thev prayed that a
legal authority would be established
to make local laws for the good of
the colony: and expressed resentment
of the “infringement made on their
rights, privileges and liberty by John
Macarthur Esq., who appeuars by the
Svdney Guzette to have signed lor the
inhabitants  without  any  previous
knowledge. consent or authority puhlic
or private™.® Another petition. dated
[ January 1808 asked. among other
things, that his Excellency  establish
trial hy jury.!"

In that same year William was
joined by another son. James, of
whom there is no earlier record. He
arrived as  a free settler in  the
“Aeolus™ and was then aged about 30
years, so that at the time of William's
conviction he would have been ubout
14 years of age. He may well have
been apprenticed to a trade and for
this reason had not travelled out with
the family. Furthermore, it is possible
that, on account of the difference of
10 years in the ages of Benpjumin and

6. Sce M. Steven, Merchanr  Camphell,
1769-1846  (Mclbourne, 1965) Chapter
8, and Appendix F.

7. Colonial Secretary In letters.

8 Sydney Gazette. Yol VI | October
1809,

9. H.R. NSW. Vol VI, p. 191 Banks
Papers, Vol 22—Cape. Bligh.,

i, Banks  Papers, ibid

James. the latter may not have been
Hannah's son.

James married Mary, a daughter
of Thomus and Jane Rose, who came
out in the "Bellona™. She was at the
time the widow of Henry Murray and
had in 1800 been previously married
to William Green. Her parents were
among the first assisted migrants to
arrive in the colony and had scttled
in the Wilberforce district where, in
about {812, they built Rose Cottage.
the oldest wooden building used as a
residence still standing in Australia.
James and his descendants remained
in the Hawkesbury, and to this day
one may find members of that line of
the family.

On 4 February 811, the Reverend
Richard Cartwright, the same man
who later was to celebrate the first
Divine Service in the southern region
of the colony. ofliciated at the
marriage of Benjamin Singleton and
Mary  Sharling. and  Benjamin’s
sister, Sarah Ann, to Thomas Siberry.
Mary Sharling was the daughter of
Thomas Sharling of the 102nd Regi-
ment and Lucy Lane who, according
to a letter written by Mary many
years later, were married “about 18th
January, 179671 Mary was born on
the “Ganges™ on 28 December 1796,
when Thomas with his regiment was
cn route to Sydney.

The  marriage register at St
Matthew's Rectory. Windsor, was
signed by Benjamin only: since unable
to  write. the other three happy
people made their mark. Although it
is not certain, it seems that Benjamin
had probably attended. at least for a
time, the school at Windsor which
John Harris commenced in 1803.1¢

11. Letter Mary Singlcton 10 her sister-in-
law, Mrs. I Sharling, Calcutta, 27
Sept., 1847 {collection given  to
Singleton  Historical  Society by  Mrs.
Allan Drakcford, 1971},

12, Svdnrey Guazerre, Vol 10X July 1803,
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At a later date Benjamin kept a log
on a journey of exploration.

Before continuing with the story ot
Benjamin  Singleton, perhaps  one
should mention that in 1813, at the
age of 56 years, Hannah died and
was buried at Wilberforce, Her hus-
band continued to live at Wilberforce
for a time and after selling his “back
farm™ ncar Reibeycroft in 1814 and
other sales in 1821 moved to the
Hunter River. In (830, now in his
78th year, and living at Patrick’s
Plains. he sent a  memorial to
Governor Ralph Darling seeking a
new grant of land which was
refused.'® Five years later. in May.
1835, he died at the age of 83 years
and was buried at Singleton.

With the opening in 1813 of a
passage through the Blue Mountains,
there was renewed interest in
exploration inspired to some extent
by a belicf that a second crossing
might be made to the north-west
from Windsor. On 30 October 1817
Wiltiam Parr. a government
mineralogist. led an expadition into
the north-west. Among those in the
small party was Benjamin Singlcton.
The party was expacted to be absent
from Windsor for five weeks and it
is puzzling to find the following entry
in Parr’s Journal for 14 November:

“Here Mr. B. Singleton who had
been sometimes very low in spirits,
first. mude known his inability, or
desire. not to proceed further, How-
ever, | prevailed upon him to try
another day. 1 planted a peach and
apricot stones in the form of a
crescent. On  Saturduy 15, Mr, B.
Singleton declared his determination
not to proceed any further, in con-
sequence of which I signified to him
that he might take any man to remain
here with him and after 1 had gone
as far as my provisions would allow,
I would return to him. On Sunday |6

13, Memorial of Wm. Singleton to His
Excellency Lt General Ralph Darling,
2 April 1830,



Mr. B. Singleton took the bluck horse
and  Robert Francis and  returned
home about 9 a.m.”."!

The reason for Singleton’s decision
Lo return home is not clear but, what-
ever it might be, it was not sutlicient
to deter him from organising his own
expedition during the following year.
His log. now in the Mitchell Library.
consists of one large sheet of paper
which, folded over, is somewhere in
size between quarto and foolscap. It
is rather remarkable for its complete
absence of punctuation; thcre is not
a full stop, comma, or semi-colon ia
the whole manuscript. The following
extracts will be of interest:

“Left water mill Saturday April 25
1818 went down the edge of Weeny
Creek about [0 miles down Dis-
covered the truck of a man fresh on
the becach the Native Man who was
with us Shouted an we heard o faint
voice of a man who wuas lost We
Desired him to Come Down to us he
said he was not able we went fowards
him an gave him refreshments we
took him from thence to the Branch
an denicted him to bhis Master's he
said he had been Lost for 5 Days an
had nothing to eat Hc stated his
name was Ray an he was Servant to
Mr Churchill at Sackville Reach He
slept with that night an we gave him
some refreshments in the Morning an
Provisions to take with him”

Over the next few days. the diary
records  progress  in very  short.
laconic notes. in which the main
attention, naturally enough. is given
to grass and water, and the distances
and direction travelled, The night of
Tuesday. 5 Muay, was a  mosl
uncomfortible one und merited quite
a long entry:

“halted this night about— Disturbed
by the Voice of Natives Cracking of
Sticks an Rolling Big Rocks Stones

14, Journal (Wm. Parr) of Expedition
north from Windsor, October-
November 1817,

Down towards us every man of us
arose an fled from the firc sccreting
ourselves behind trees with our guns
an ammunition where we could have
a view of the fire doubting if we
staid by the Fire every man was lost
spent thc whole of the Night in that
Condition Raining Very Hard  the
Native whom we had with us was
timid than any of us Saying he was
sure he would be killed™

Well, they were not Killed, and the
next  morning  had a  further
adventure:

“Wednesday 6th  Arose in the
Morning an Shapzd our Course on
the same hill about 10 o'clock fell in
with  upwards of two Hundred
Natives who had Never seen a White
Man Before except one by the name
of Muwby who could spcak a little
English the Whole of Being Clothed
with Skins and Furnished with a
Great  Quantity of Spears . . . we
enquired if we could go to the West-
ward he informed us it was impossible
as it was very rocky an No water . . .
they asked us our Business we told
them we wanted to go to Bathurst or
to find good land they pointed to the
N Euastward saving we go there in
two days where there is a large
river . . . they could not drink it
which we suppose by that it means
it was salt water we told our native
to ask them which way it run they
said Both Ways by that means we
supposc the tide must rise and flow . ..
am anxious to return we  supposed
ourselves to be 120 miles from
Windsor N30W returned the same
way we went We arrived home at the
Water Mill May [4th”

Great interest was aroused by the
report of the undrinkable river which
flowed both ways, and Mucquaric
asked John Howe, Chief Constable of
the Hawkesbury, to investigate it. In
October, 1819, John Howe set off
with a party and found the river, but
after a  brief reconnaissance, was
forced to return partly because. it is
said. of the leader’s ill health, On 5

Murch 1820, Howe, now accom-
panied by Benjaumin Singlcton. sct off
and reached the big river 10 days
later but at a spot lower downstream.
On St. Patrick’s Day. they decided to
call the district St. Patrick’s Plains.
This was later shortened to Patrick’s
Plains and then Patrick Plains. Howe's
party identified the river as the Hunter
after following it downstream until
meeting some sawyers from the New-
castle convict settlement.

Mucquarie was not very enthusi-
astic  about this new road to the
Hunter vallev. Not only did it provide
convicls escaping from Newcastle
with an casy retreat but, cqually im-
portant, acted as a temptation to
settlers to spread out beyond the
confines of the Nincteen Counties.

Grazing began in the Hunter
valley in 1820 when John Howe
received a permit to graze stock on
Patrick’s Plains until such time as a
grant of 700 ucres could be surveyed
for him.

In 1821 the Newcastle chaplain,
the Reverend G. A. Middleton, was
permitted to travel from Richmond
to Wallis’s Plains (now Maitland) and
thence to Newcastle, He was followed
shortly afterwards by an unauthorised
party which blazed the track and thus
further facilitated the escapz of con-
victs. Shortly afterwards a Govern-
ment Order was issued expressing
Macquaric’s “express desire that this
irregularity  (travelling  without a
permit) may not occur again”. In
Dccember the Newcastle comman-
dant, Morisset, reported that 12
conviets had escapad, and gone off
by “the Parson’s Road”, and expressed
a hope that no additional parmits
would be issued.

However, a tew days later the
following noticc appeared in the
Svdney Guazette:

“St. Patrick’s Plains—Mr. B. Single-
ton begs leave to inform the public
that he will take charge of any
Person’s Cattle at the abovementioned
Plains. Terms 10s a hcad per annum:

taken for no less than three years.
Apply at Kurry Jong Mill. N.B.
Responsible for any number which
may be entrusted to his charge.”

It is not clear whether Benjamin
had as vet received any land in the
new country or whether he was
working as Howe's agent.

During 1821 Macquarie opened up
the penal settlement at Port Mac-
quarie and transferred the convicts
tfrom Newcastle. This was followed
by a land rush to the new country
which was preferred to the Bathurst
district. By 1823 —a steady stream of
scttlers began to arrive in the district
and to select sites for their farms™.
In February of that year. Morisset
visited the district and reported that
he had “found as much regularity as
could be expected in a distant scttle-
ment” and as a security measure
appointed Singleton as constable. In
March a public notice announced that
the road from Richmond to Wallis's
Plains was now opan to the public
and “permits should be applied for™.
Soon after that. it was reported that
Singleton’s agistment business must
have been flourishing; quite a large
number of permits mentioned that
the stock was being taken to graze
with  Mr,  Singleton at Patrick’s
Plains: and by 1825 it was further
reported that almost the whole length
of the river from its mouth to the
broad valley of Dart Brook. Kingdon
Ponds. and Page’s River had been
selected.

On 2 March 1823, Benjamin
Singleton submitted a memorial to
Governor  Brisbane  in which  he
described himsclf as a free settler
who had never been a prisoner. He
stated that he had been a member of
the party which had discovered this
part of the colony uand, having becn
twice ruined by floods on the Hawkes-
bury, begged an additional grant of
land. He stated that he now held 200
acres and was the owner of cight
working bullocks, 35 head of cattle.
a mare and foal, a wife and six
children.



In 1824 the family, including
William, had apparently moved from
thc Windsor district and scttled on
Benjamin's new land in the Hunter
valley.,  About this time, several
advertisements apeared in the Syvdney
Gazette offering  Singleton’s  Back
Farm for sale and then, when it re-
mained unsold. for letting. Applica-
tions were to be made to Mrs. Reiby.

Benjamin, on the other hand, did
not sever his connection with bis
home town. In 1822, in conjunction
with  his  brother  James. who
remained in the Hawkesbury district.
he applied for a licence to brew
spirits which was granted. He retained
his interest in two mills. appuarently
flour mills: that previously mentioned
at the Kurry Jong and the other at
the Lower Hawkesbury. The ruins of
the latter are still in existence and are
shown on some maps as “Singleton’s
Mill™,

On 10 September 1820, Benjamin
and his brother. James. applied for
the confirmation of a grant of a couple
of pieces of land which had
apparently been promised to them by
Governor Mucquarie. “The Humble
Memorial of Benjamin Singleton and
James Singlcton respectfully sheweth

. having created two water mills
on Crown lands, one at Kurry Jong.
the other opposite the lower branch
of the Hawkesbury River, . . . beg
to remind you of promise to confirm
a proportion of lands on which such
mills stand™. In the left-hand margin
there is a note: “The mills erected by
Benj and James Singleton at the
places herein described being useful
to the public. each of them iy to
reccive a grant of ten (10) acres of
land where their respective mills have
been erected”. The note is dated
Windsor. 18th  Sept. [1821. and
initialled L.M,

Not only did Benjamin not com-
pletely sever his conncctions with the
Windsor district; at a later date. in
1832, he expanded to enter the Par-
ramatta river transport business. He
built a hoat of 60 tons” burthen.
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capable of carrying 100 passengers
and 30 tons of cargo. It was named
the “Experiment” and wuas powered
by four horses which apparently
propelled the boat by walking in a
treadmill. One trip only was made.
Appuarently she was missing on each
cylinder, or horse, and most of the
passengers went ashore to the
accompuaniment  of much scofling.
Benjamin sueceeded in getting the
boat to Parramatta. in spite of his
tour-horse-power trouble. and later
sold it for £400. He said that hc
lacked the capital necessary to convert
the boat to steam. During this same

period he was interested in  boat
building at Clarencetown. Williams
River.

At some time Benjamin  hud

received a grant of 200 acres of land
from Governor Macquaric and in
1825 petitioned Governor Brisbane
for morc land. In justification of his
patition he pointed out that. in addi-
tion to being 4 member of the party
which had discovered that part of the
country, he had been at great
expense victuulling and otherwise
providing for a number of pzrsons
cngaged with him on two excursions,
and now had a very large number of
cattle. which was a grcat incon-
venicnee on so small a piece of land.
This request scemed to have bheen
unsuccessful and in 1827 he again
patitioned for additional land. At that
time he stated that he possessed: 200
acres of land by grant. 100 acres by
purchase, 1,00C acres by lease, of
which 200 acres were cleared: 200
head of cattle, 200 pigs, 12 horses:
he had erected two dwelling houszs
valued at £200 each. one Kitchen,
£50; a barn. £100. and a water flour
mill, £200, He had completed 3!
acres of fences and employed during
the year three convict servants und
Il free men, His petition  was
marked “to await new torm” and in
another place. "new  form  trans-
mitted 16th August™.

None of those dwelling houses
survived into modern times but his
brewery and mill did last until well

into this century. As a matter of
interest. his Phocnix Flour Mill was
standing in 1955 when it was hadly
damaged by flood.

Perry in  his Australia’'s  First
Frontier quotes a traveller: ~The
township at  Patrick’s  Plains  was
embryonic  rather than real, but
nevertheless it was a centre. Benjumin
Singleton had opzned the “Plough
Inn”. and there was a ferry boat
capable of conveying carts and heavy
articles when the river is up”,

On 24 and 26 November [831.
two Jeading articles, presumably
written by the editor, were puhlished
in the Sydney Gazerie and describe a
journey up the Hunter River. In the
second article the writer stated:
“from Castle Forhes you may take a
pleasant drive to Singleton’s Ford.

.. The ford, as the name implies,
iy a part of the river which, (except
after heavy rains), is easily crossed.
on horseback or on foot. Here are
the vestiges of a watermill (erected
by the person whose name is given
to the ford) swept away in a heavy
flood™.

Before following the fortunes of
the family after settling in the Hunter
district. it would be in order to digress
a little to examine some developments
in Mary's family aflairs. In February
1824, she rediscovered a long lost
hrother then living in Calcutta, She
wrote him the following letter which
was apparently returned unclaimed:

“Patrick’s Plains, H.R.
N.S.W. Oth Fcbruary, 1824,

"My Dear Brother. Having heard
the other day only of vour address
and an opportunity of conveyance I
embrace it with the greatest pleasure
to write to one | have never heard of
for the last tecn or twclve years. It
gave mc great pleasure to hear you
are both alive and well, I wrote vou
some time since but not then knowing
where to direct to you the letter must
never have come to hand informing
you of my situation, heing marricd
to Mr. Benj Singleton and having a

large family of 5 girls and 2 boys
which has since been increased by a
boy. Your Mother and Father are
still alive and well and will receive
with infinite pleasure and comfort in
hearing from you. We have latelv
begun farming down here but at
present farming is but a poor employ-
ment, but thank God we are doing
well and perhaps hetter than somc of
our neighbours. Again pressing you
to write us early as possible helieve
me your affectionate sister
Mary Singleton.

"1 have requested Mr. Hassall who
will take carc to forward to me my
letters directed to his care.

“C/o Revd Thos Hassall, Parra-
matta, Mr. Joseph Sharling.
Honourable Company Pilot Service,
Banks Hall, Calcutta.”

The ncwly-found hrother did not
seem to be at all delighted. Somce
letters were returned unclaimed and
when Joseph did rcply it was only
after long intervals. In 1847 while in
England. Mary wrote to her sister-in-
law, Whereas she had previously
referred to her hrother as Joszph.
she now called him John and
expressed a feeling of uneasiness at
his thinking that she was not his
sister. She hoped that if she and her
husband were to return to Sydney by
way of India, she would be able to
explain the mystery. In 1851, still
in  England. Mary wrote another
letter to her “Dear Sister” wherein
she expressed her sorrow at hearing
of the death of her brother. Then she
began to explain the mystery to which
she had previously referred. She men-
tioned that she had heen horn at sea
and that her brother was born in
Sydney "about February 17987, John
returned to Sydney with “Mr. R, in
about 1808 when ““Mr. R. contrived
to stcal . . . who is Matthew and
Anthony as he had stolen John in
the first offset . . . as to the cause
of their names being changed 1 cannot
say as that was in Calcutta.”

But this letter did littde 1o explain
the mystery, In 1858 Mary. being in
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